
Oak Bluffs Planning Board
Meeting Minutes

April 21, 2016 at 5:00 p.m. at the Oak Bluffs Council on Aging

Members in attendance: Brian Packish (Chairman), Robert Fehl (Vice Chair), Ewell Hopkins, Erik Albert
Members absent: Kris Chvatal
Staff in attendance: MacGregor Anderson (Clerical Assistant)

Chairman Brian Packish called the meeting to order at 5:00 p.m.

Public Hearing: Susan Klein Definitive Subdivision Plan Form C, 26 Debettencourt Place, map 17-54
Note this hearing was later deemed invalid by the Board as the newspaper notice had an incorrect date.

Chairman Packish began the hearing by reading out the notice in full.  He then read aloud the rules of 
the hearing.  Susan Klein presented her plan to the Board.  She explained that she had owned the land 
since 1980, always with the idea of subdividing one day.  She would be creating a road to allow frontage 
for two lots.  Her niece planned to buy the property so they could remain on the Island.  She said it 
made sense to keep the finances nice and tidy by creating a separate lot.  She gave additional 
information on the locus and history of the property as a former Debettencourt farm.

Mr. Anderson explained that the Board of Health had asked that the Conservation Commission look at 
the plan because of its locus.  Mr. Anderson read an e-mail from Elizabeth Durkee of ConCom saying it 
was not under their jurisdiction given current FEMA flood maps.  Mr. Anderson then read aloud the 
Board of Health’s letter with conditions for approval.

Chairman Packish asked if anybody from the public input in favor, then in opposition then questions.  
There were no comments from the public. 

Member Fehl asked about the Board of Health’s 300 foot septic spacing restriction on lot 2.  Mr. 
Anderson added that this only applied to the coastal zone portion of the lot.  Chairman Packish noted 
this was only a piece of lot 2 and that an engineer would design around it.  Ken Abbot showed the 
coastal district on the plan and said it was an approximation, and that they would determine it by 
running elevations when it was time to build.  Chairman Packish explained an engineered plan would be 
submitted to the Board of Health when it was time to build, but he felt it was great to have this up front. 
Member Fehl confirmed with the applicant that there was no wastewater on lot 2 at present.

Chairman Packish asked how many bedrooms existed presently.  Ms. Klein said one bedroom in 450 
square feet.  The public hearing was closed.  Mr. Anderson said he had provided all Members with 
copies of Rules and Regulations Governing the Subdivision of Land in Oak Bluffs.  He said page 6 was 
where definitive application procedures were described and that they had been through this stage.  
Page 15, 421K, had a requirement that driveways not be below 10 feet mean sea level.  Chairman 
Packish said they had the ability to waive requirements in the rules and regulations, but he wanted the 
Board to be aware of this one in particular.  The Members reviewed the plans.

Member Hopkins made a motion to approve the application with the Board of Health conditions and 
noting that they waive 421K.  Member Albert seconded.  The Board voted 4-0 to approve the application
under those terms.



Robert Whritenour discussion regarding funding of Town Hall outreach program
Chairman Packish explained that he invited the Town Administrator to discuss funding for town hall 
outreach.  He said that since there was no budget for this he thought they should go to Mr. Whritenour 
and the Selectmen.  Mr. Whritenour congratulated the Board for processing over 350 surveys already, 
which he felt was very meaningful.  He said he supported the effort 100% as it was a great process to get
the project into the community.  He felt it had really raised the level of awareness.  There were not 
limitless funds, but there was some available in the project department.  It could not be used for salaries
but could be used for moving the project forward.  They needed to preserve funds for additional steps in
their town hall process but he would keep the Selectmen informed and would support the Planning 
Board.  

Chairman Packish explained he had spoken with Mr. Whritenour earlier and they were not talking 
thousands and thousands of dollars.  The $26 for Survey Monkey could be covered now, and small stuff 
that popped up could be covered, but they would need to go to the Selectmen for anything significant.  
He was pleased there was a place to address that and that they wouldn’t need to bring every small item 
to a meeting for approval.

Member Fehl announced that they were up to 366 surveys and he hadn’t even checked all the boxes 
yet.  Mr. Whritenour said they had created quite a bit of buzz at the senior center, with everyone 
wanting to know about town hall.  Chairman Packish said they had made three presentations there and 
learned a lot.  

Member Albert said that he had paid Facebook small amounts, five bucks for example, to boost posts on 
OB Downtown.  He thought it could be considered for this.  

Chairman Packish said that although off topic, one thing he heard consistently at the senior center was 
that at their age, it was hard to get out late at night for Town Meeting.  He heard Nantucket had moved 
to a Saturday afternoon meeting.  He said it could be something they might want to talk about as that 
demographic was not being represented at Town Meeting.

Chairman Packish thanked Mr. Whritenour for the support.  Mr. Whritenour said he was happy to help 
any time he could.  Chairman Packish said the next help they could use was with the joint Affordable 
Housing and Selectmen meeting.  Mr. Whritenour thanked the Planning Board for grabbing that bull by 
the horns, and welcomed Board members to the next Selectmen’s meeting to discuss the topic.

Master Plan update and discussion
Chairman Packish said he had hoped to have Member Chvatal at the meeting but noted he had a conflict
with the ZBA meeting and this was not the normal Board meeting week.  He noted that Renee Balter 
had attended, and though she had laryngitis she had a note for the Board.  Mr. Anderson read the note 
aloud, which said she thought the master plan discussion was scheduled for May 12 with Adam Turner 
of the MVC.  

Chairman Packish explained to Ms. Balter that master plan had been on every single agenda for several 
months, and this would be the fifth or sixth visit by Mr. Turner.  He said it was unfortunate Member 
Chvatal had asked Ms. Balter to do the work that she had done, as the bulk of it had already been done 
with Mr. Turner, but that Member Chvatal had been unaware of this having not attended many 
meetings.  Chairman Packish said he had tried to call Member Chvatal to explain what had already been 



done.  Mr. Turner had called Chairman Packish asking what was going on, saying the Board already knew
the role the MVC was willing to play.  

Chairman Packish further explained that he point of this meeting tonight had been to bring Member 
Chvatal up to speed on where the Board was in the process.  A master plan had become a top priority 
and they could not afford to push this to the back burner any longer.  That was why it was on the 
agenda every meeting.  The Board had asked Member Chvatal to gather information on various master 
plans and look into consultants that specialized in master plans.  They were hoping he’d reach out 
directly or through Mr. Anderson to see if any of these consultants would come in and do a 
presentation.  This would allow them to wrap their heads around what needed to be done and what it 
would cost, similar to how it had worked initially with Streetscape.

Chairman Packish continued, saying the Board’s position has been clear that many portions of the 
master plan were done including open space and the downtown economic plan.  They were moving 
along with affordable housing working with the MVC and the HPP.  Next, the components needed to be 
reconciled, they needed public outreach and a public process, and they needed to collect any 
information they didn’t have.  They needed to go back to the 1998 plan and break out what was and 
wasn’t accomplished and determine if they were still priorities to the tax payer.  This would all end up in 
a spiral binder, it would be reviewed, accepted, submitted to the Town and the State.  The MVC was 
willing to help in many ways but was not willing to create the master plan, and the Board didn’t want 
them to do that.  The MVC would provide GIS mapping, traffic, economic development and housing.  
They would provide staffing.  The Board was embracing that offer, and along with the work of the Board 
and many others who volunteered, they would get to the point where the information could be driven 
to someone who could put it all together.  

Chairman Packish said everybody had worked hard on the 1998 document, and it fit the Town at that 
time, but Oak Bluffs was not a sleepy little town any longer, and while many needs were the same many 
had changed.  They needed to get to a document people respected, whereas nobody had ever respected
the 1998 document.  If you look at the items on that plan perhaps only three had been done.  Currently, 
the Selectmen chose to have a visioning process, they get together on a Saturday and make a list of 
what is important to them, and what they consider priorities to the Town, which was self-serving, when 
they should be looking at a master plan and asking what the people of the Town want.  This leads to 
master plan items being ignored in favor of Selectmen’s goals.  Many members of the Planning Board 
take exception to that process.

Chairman Packish said the Board had asked Member Chvatal to do certain things, but had never 
authorized him to ask anybody else to do them.  They had hoped to have that conversation with him at 
this meeting.  He asked Mr. Anderson to put it on the April 28 meeting to have that discussion.  Then on 
May 12 they would have Adam Turner present and Member Chvatal, and Ms. Balter, when they could 
hopefully move forward.  

Ms. Balter said she would be unable to attend on May 12th.  When she met with Mr. Turner she had 
provided the outline from 1998, and he seemed to think it was quite simple, that the MVC and Planning 
Board could work together as they had to do this, and big time expensive consultants were not a 
necessary part of the procedure.  Chairman Packish said it was unfortunate she could not attend on the 
12th as Mr. Turner had conveyed the opposite to him on a number of occasions.  They were going to 
work together but Mr. Turner had been adamant that the Board would need outside help.



Ms. Balter acknowledged that some help would be needed but a consultant shouldn’t run the show.  
Chairman Packish said the Planning Board was going to run the show.  However, Mr. Anderson was 
scheduled for only 15 to 18 hours a week and he was unable to get to initial master plan tasks given day 
to day demands of the job.  The MVC had a certain amount of staffing but couldn’t staff the full process. 
Mr. Anderson would have more hours in July but he would also have to manage town hall outreach, a 
zoning overhaul, and day to day tasks.  Any one of those was a full time job for any individual.  The MVC 
even needed to get a grant to put together the HPP, despite that plan being relatively simple and 
despite information being mostly available.

Chairman Packish said the master plan is a big document, and the worst thing they could do would be 
not do it right, which would mean it would not be honored.  The goal wasn’t to just update something.  
The Board’s track record showed everybody was going to be involved, and they were going to be 
thorough.  Just as he didn’t want a town hall that passed by five votes, but rather one by 30%, he 
wanted this master plan to be embraced by the community.

Ms. Balter asked for a meeting when they would determine a concrete timeline for the project.  
Chairman Packish said he had hoped they would have been there by now but they still needed to have 
the conversation on who was taking the lead on the Board.  That didn’t mean delegating this to others.  
He said Member Hopkins represented the Board at the Water District, and he attends every meeting.  
Member Albert did the same for Copeland.  Member Fehl: CPC and Capital Improvement, and the town 
hall survey.  Chairman Packish put in 30 or 40 hours a week on behalf of the Board and he was looking 
for that same level of commitment on the master plan.  

Member Hopkins asked to emphasize that it will be a lost opportunity if they did not do thorough public 
outreach.  In all the training sessions they had attended, he had never seen a budget of less than 
$150,000 for a master plan.  It involves charrettes and community interaction, and he wasn’t prepared 
to do any less than that.  He wanted that level of expenditure adequately articulated to the community, 
and for the community to determine it was a legitimate expense before embarking on the plan.  He 
wanted national classification in key areas of environment, waste disposal and tourism, and that would 
require professional help.  The bike lane alone had 30 person meetings and would be an important 
component.  

Member Hopkins said the Town might not elect to do that kind of comprehensive planning, and then 
they would do some other type of planning, but this was what a master plan was.  Chairman Packish 
agreed saying from the perspective of an eight million dollar fire station, seven million dollar town hall, 
millions more on a library, over 20 million in water projects, six million in affordable housing, to say you 
can’t spend a hundred thousand up front would be reckless and irresponsible.  

Chairman Packish asked Mr. Anderson to see if he could reschedule Mr. Turner for April 28, contingent 
on Member Chvatal being available, in order to accommodate Ms. Balter so she could participate.
Peter Goodale asked what information the Board would like to hear from his customers.  Chairman 
Packish said he’d like to hear from Oak Bluffs residents and businesses separately.  He suggested putting 
that as a question on the next survey Mr. Goodale sent around.  He wanted to hear from people outside 
of that group but he would put the most weight on those in that group.  

Chairman Packish said Mr. Turner had offered to reconcile zoning with their DRI checklist leading to a 
special permit process that kept more decisions in Town.  Ultimately he hoped the master plan would 
demonstrate that people wanted a light industrial area somewhere in Town.  If they didn’t then The 



Board wouldn’t be working on it.  Last time it was on the agenda it was standing room only with 
neighbors of Mr. Goodale against an industrial area.  Mr. Goodale asked if there were other questions 
he should ask.  Chairman Packish said before he did another survey, they should work on it together.  
The Planning Board plate had been very full with Town Meeting items, but now they were able to focus 
on town hall and master plan.  He hoped to have a master plan item on Town Meeting warrant in April 
of 2017.  He acknowledged Mr. Goodale’s frustration with wanting to move the process along, but now 
that it had been mentioned on Town Meeting floor by several others, and was in the papers, with a bit 
of outreach they will hopefully get the support of the public to move forward.

Member Hopkins said he’d like Mr. Goodale to reach out to Richard Toole.  The visioning fellowship just 
gave a nearly $100,000 grant to study large scale composting and he thought they should meet.  Mr. 
Goodale said he’d tried reaching out.  The Board encouraged him to continue trying.  Mr. Anderson 
suggested Mr. Goodale attend the food waste study presentation at an upcoming meeting.  Mr. Goodale
confirmed he was interested in this.

Member Hopkins said if the master plan was too small, it would take on the direction of certain special 
interests, but if done right everyone would be heard.  Outreach workers could find people where they 
were, but it would cost money.

Ms. Balter asked for clarification on Mr. Goodale’s survey.  He explained he had asked his customers 
what kind of land space they needed.  Did they need to store materials or equipment or building space?  
Marie Doubleday suggested considering the workbar concept for office space.  Chairman Packish 
clarified that they were discussing industrial space here.  What happened was people started small with 
a truck getting to little jobs the big guys couldn’t take.  Before you knew it they added one piece of 
equipment after the other until it was a problem.  Right now we ask the neighbor to police the neighbor,
which is unfair, but we also don’t want to live in a police state, so we need to find somewhere for these 
people to go.  Ms. Doubleday understood that was a different thing but thought there was a need for 
both.  

Cultural District nomination with Christine Flynn
Christine Flynn asked to postpone the presentation to May 12 as a presenter from the Oak Bluffs 
Association was unable to attend.  The Board agreed.

Town Hall update
Member Fehl announced the receipt of 366 surveys and said he alone was analyzing and inputting them.
He said he would not be releasing any information early.  Member Albert asked for an end date.  
Member Fehl said April 30.  Member Hopkins asked how they could get in a last push for more 
responses as he didn’t want to give up on 500 yet.  Chairman Packish said Megan Alley would be putting 
it in the Oak Bluffs news.  They had done three presentations at the senior center, and Skip Finley had 
written about it in the Gazette.  Chairman Packish had also spoken with Barry at the Times who would 
try to get one last piece in the paper on it.  They continued to use social media aggressively.  

Matt Viaggio asked about school kids bringing it home.  Chairman Packish said they had considered it 
and reached out to the principal via e-mail, but hadn’t heard back.  They were somewhat reluctant on 
this approach anyhow, as it involved politics and children.  Also, it was hard to get paper copies returned
when they were handed out in that way.  Marie Doubleday suggested the Inkwell Facebook page, but 
Member Hopkins had already posted there several times.  He noted that Mr. Finley said in his article 
they already had more responses than the Town had attendees at Town Meeting.  Chairman Packish 



noted that Mr. Finley made it very clear he was unhappy with the proposed design of the new town hall. 
Ms. Doubleday suggested the churches and temples and the NAACP.  There was some concern about 
separation of Church and State.  

Chairman Packish noted that the survey was only one part of the outreach process.  He said that 
although there would likely be a push to put this on the November ballot as it was a presidential 
election, he thought it would be irresponsible to vote on it before April of 2017 Town Meeting.  There 
were many people in Town leadership who didn’t think it needed to go back to Town Meeting but he 
felt strongly it did.

Planning Board access and utilities review under zoning by-law 4.2.4, More Than One Dwelling Per
Lot: Brian Packish 111 Dukes County Ave., map 11-211
Member Fehl took over as Chair as Brian Packish was the applicant.  Member Albert announced that he 
had spoken with the State Ethics Board because Mr. Packish had done work for him in the past and likely
would in the future.  The Ethics Board did not consider it a conflict.

Mr. Packish made it clear that he was representing himself only and that nobody else had an interest in 
the project.  He said that was the criteria he was given by the Ethics Board to avoid a conflict.  He 
presented the plans for the project and explained that 4.2.4 allowed for more than one dwelling per lot 
and that in B1 there was no minimum frontage or lot size.  Mr. Anderson confirmed this from Appendix 
B for the Board.  Therefore Mr. Packish said he just needed to certify utilities and access.

Mr. Packish said he had 110 feet of frontage on Dukes County and 88 feet on Everett providing plenty of 
access.  He abutted Town water, there was a utility pole approximately four feet from the property line, 
and he was on wastewater.  The building was 497 square feet.  There was no need for a site plan review 
as it was under 500 square feet so did not trigger multifamily site plan review.  There was the one third 
lot coverage by-law 4.2.5, and Town Counsel interpreted that to be an aggregate number, which meant 
he was allowed 3297 square feet of footprint and this project would bring him to 1826.  This wasn’t in 
the Planning Board’s jurisdiction but he was bringing it up for their information.  He said in the end it 
came down to parking, and while there was no residential parking minimum, in this case he had five 
bedrooms on the lot and seven spaces along one property line.

A member of the audience asked to confirm that you didn’t need to provide parking in the B1.  Mr. 
Packish said it depended on use.  There was no residential parking by-law.  On larger projects like multi-
family you would do a site plan review which would address parking.  Residential was not listed 
specifically there but the Board could require it.  If an applicant couldn’t meet that request they could 
do mitigation, which had never been rejected to his knowledge.  Chairman Packish said most people 
ended up not paying the $100 mitigation assessment, leaving the Town $40,000 in the hole on that 
account, and parking spaces were never created from it anyhow.  He said despite that, their parking by-
law was considered progressive by the State and held up as an example frequently.

Member Hopkins asked that 4.2.5 lot coverage and lot frontage be explained.  Mr. Anderson started by 
explaining that he had spoken with the Building Inspector, and Mr. Packish’s explanations were exactly 
in line with what Mr. Barbadoro had explained.  He said the only definition of access in the zoning by-
laws was frontage, and as there was no frontage requirement in B1, it was irrelevant.  Perhaps if many 
units were going in you could argue 20 feet of frontage was required, but even that was unlikely.  
Utilities were hardly described in by-laws and mostly just showed up in our Subdivision Rules and 
Regulations.  Therefore that the determination was a subjective one.



Chairman Packish said it was good the Board understood this process as he was likely coming back with 
more of these.  He said it was unfortunate that he was using this by-law to develop his property, that he 
didn’t consider it highest and best use, but there was a deficit in the housing zoning in B1.  He wanted to 
build apartments in the existing building and maintain open space.  However, current zoning didn’t 
allow it, despite the Town historically allowing this approach.

Member Hopkins asked what happened with the existing structure.  Mr. Packish said it was his garage 
and was staying as is for now but would eventually come down. 

Chairman Fehl asked Mr. Anderson if he had anything else to contribute.  He said they hadn’t done 
much “certifying” as a Board but had another similar situation coming up the following week.  He said 
he’d drafted a letter that the Building Inspector considered sufficient, with blanks for the name of the 
plan and the decision.  That could be signed right away.  Alternatively, he said he could complete the 
letter and it could be signed the following meeting.

Member Hopkins wanted to vote then and there but have it typed up so they could come in and sign 
later.  Chairman Packish provided Mr. Anderson with the title of the plan showing one new 497 square 
foot unit.  Member Hopkins made a motion to certify that each structure in the plan Brian Packish 
submitted on June 22, 2015 showing one 497 square foot new unit will be provided access and utilities 
in the same manner as otherwise required for lots within a subdivision as defined by the rules and 
regulations governing the subdivision of land, Town of Oak Bluffs, Massachusetts and Massachusetts 
Subdivision Control Law Chapter 41 sec 81k-81gg inclusive.  Member Albert seconded.  The Board voted 
3-0 to adopt the motion.

Marie Doubleday said this appeared to be a small house, and although she wasn’t part of the movement,
wondered if it would be considered a tiny house.  Mr. Packish said those were generally smaller, in the 
150 square foot range.  Those got complicated with minimum bedroom sizes and the like.

Board Member Updates
Member Hopkins noted this was not on the agenda so no deliberation should follow.  He said the Water 
District had made a proposal through their attorney to the Land Bank for a new well site.  They were 
also in discussion with the Town.  There were three lots in question totaling 52 acres, lots 42-1-0, 43-54-
1 and 43-53-0.  The Land Bank said they owned all three.  The Oak Bluffs Assessor’s map says the Town 
owns two of them, and owns the third jointly.  Member Hopkins had worked with Gail Barmakian to 
determine there were roughly four acres of joint ownership in question.  The Town’s position was that 
until proven otherwise, they owned this land.  Chairman Fehl confirmed it was a portion of the middle 
lot that was jointly owned.  

Chairman Packish said there had been significant developments on the subject that day.  Member 
Hopkins said he had heard there was agreement that three acres were jointly owned.  He said beyond 
that, there were minutes of a Land Bank Advisory Council that discussed the topic, but they still didn’t 
have the authority to release the land.  

Member Hopkins said his point was that they were proposing a well site on the corner of the undisputed
lot and another lot.  He said there would be a new zone one there and the new zone two would go to 
the Edgartown town line.



On another topic, a story in the MV Times from the previous year had been updated, and the Land Bank 
had sent out an RFP to build a campground on 42-1-0.  The Land Bank did not discuss this with the Town,
despite the Town believing they owned the land.

Getting back to the Water District, Member Hopkins said they had not provided conservation or 
education plans as requested by the Board.  He told them it was irresponsible to submit a plan to 
increase supply without considering those factors first.  They did do one public notice on conservation, 
which was published on the Planning Board Facebook Page, but in summer peak usage reached four 
million gallons a day.  The water tower is only two million gallons for perspective.  

Member Hopkins said he was really concerned about having 52 acres in dispute, which would have a 
major impact on master planning, light industrial zoning, housing, and conservation.  He was concerned 
about siting a new well site without public input, putting everybody east of County Road all the way to 
Edgartown Vineyard Haven road and the town line into a new zone two.  And he was upset this was 
being done with no education or conservation plan.  Member Hopkins said the Land Bank’s attorney 
asked the Town to sign away the land, and when Member Hopkins objected, he was told he was 
meddling in business that wasn’t appropriate for the Planning Board.  They even called the Chairman to 
ask that he call Member Hopkins off.

Marie Doubleday said zone two had a huge impact on housing.  Chairman Fehl asked that discussion end
saying this would go on the agenda for full discussion at a future meeting.

Member Albert said he had attended the parks meeting where they were prioritizing their properties 
and considering improvements.  A member of the public complained about a fence that was a traffic 
hazard.  She was advised to speak with the parks department.  

Chairman Packish said he did not attend the parks meeting because he didn’t believe in public outreach 
that happened between one and four on a Thursday afternoon as it would discourage public input.  He 
said he’d had calls on Lagoon Ridge as there was confusion over the flexible development by-law and 
what needed to be approved in what sequence by the Board vs the MVC.  Member Packish read a quote 
in which Mr. Danielson had complained of receiving sometimes confusing direction from the Planning 
Board.  Member Packish said he told Mr. Turner he didn’t agree with that, that the Board had been 
consistently very clear that the project goes to the MVC and then comes back to the Town.  In this case 
it appeared there was a different course they would like to chart, but he said no, finish your work, and 
then send it back.  If the MVC wanted to change that order of events it would need to be changed 
comprehensively and not be done as a one off for this project.

Member Hopkins congratulated Member Albert for winning reelection and for being the longest 
standing member of the Board.

The meeting was adjourned at 6:40 p.m.

Documents used in this meeting:
Agenda
Sign-in sheet
Form C Application for Susan Klein dated march 11, 2016
Plan of Land in Oak Bluffs for Susan Klein dated March 11, 2016 by Schofield, Barbini, and Hoehn
Map generated by abutters list system showing lot 43/54/1



Note from Renee Balter
Draft letter certifying access and utilities


